**RECEIVED**

JAN 30 2018

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court**

---

**APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Opinion No. 5469 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 15, 2017)  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000979**

---

First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc. .... Respondent,

v.

Park at Durbin Creek, LLC; Kenneth E. Clifton; and  
Linda G. Whiteman ..... Defendants,

Of whom Park at Durbin Creek, LLC and Kenneth E. Clifton are the ..... Petitioners.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

J. Calhoun Pruitt, Jr., SC Bar No. 4588  
Joshua B. Raffini, SC Bar No. 10338  
PRUITT & PRUITT  
101 N. Murray Ave.

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's order to set aside half the allegedly fraudulent conveyance thereby dividing the deed?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from a bench trial in a fraudulent conveyance case. The trial court dismissed the only cause of action against Defendant Linda Whiteman, a co-owner of the subject property and a member of the limited liability company formed to hold the property. The trial court ruled that Defendant Clifton's transfer of his undivided one-half interest in the property was a fraudulent conveyance, and set aside only Clifton's transfer. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

Defendant Clifton had, for many years prior to this action, been engaged in various real estate development businesses. Tr. p. 106:13 – 107:3, (R. pp. 145-146). To finance his business interests, Clifton frequently borrowed money from commercial lenders, including Plaintiff First Citizens. Clifton or individuals working on his behalf often organized limited liability companies to facilitate ownership of various properties. Tr. p. 107:4-14, (R. p. 146).

Clifton previously owned an undivided one-half interest in a tract of land in Laurens County, the property, in his individual name with Whiteman. Tr. p. 133:25 – p. 134:15, (R. pp. 172-173). On September 18, 2008, Clifton and Whiteman transferred their interest in the property to a newly formed limited liability company, Durbin Creek, in exchange for an equivalent ownership percentage in the new company. Tr. p. 42:16-22, (R. p. 81); Tr. p. 51:3-7, (R. p. 90). At the time of the transfer, Clifton was indebted to Plaintiff First Citizens pursuant to three separate development loans unrelated to the property. Tr. p. 117:22 – p. 118:6, (R. pp. 156-

157). At the time of the transfer, Clifton was current on his loan obligations. Tr. p. 120:20 – p. 122:8. (R. pp. 159-161).

As Clifton's loans to First Citizens became due, he requested renewals for each loan. Tr. p. 121:16-23, (R. p. 160). Clifton had previously received renewals for the same loans, and as late as November, 2008, had no reason to doubt that the loans would again be renewed. Tr. p. 120:1-5; Tr. p. 128:14 – p. 129:25, (R. p. 159; pp. 167-168); Defendants Exhibit 1, (R. p. 214). However, First Citizens ultimately declined to approve renewal, accelerated the loans, and commenced foreclosure proceedings against Clifton and the collateral associated with each of the three loans. Tr. p. 16:18-24, (R. p. 55). First Citizens also sought and obtained deficiency judgments against Clifton. Following unsuccessful attempts to enforce the deficiency judgment against Clifton, First Citizens initiated the instant action.

At trial, all three witnesses with knowledge of the Durbin Creek transaction testified substantially the same: that Linda Whiteman had been the impetus for the transfer owing to her fears about liability from hunters on the property. First, Whiteman herself testified that she pressed Clifton to transfer the property into a limited liability company. Tr. p. 48:21 – 51:2, (R. pp. 87-90). Next, Renee Gilreath testified regarding formation of a limited liability company for the property, at the insistence of Whiteman. Tr. p. 81:6 – 82:1, (R. pp. 120-121). Finally, Clifton testified that he agreed to transfer the property only after repeated and frequent urging from Whiteman. Tr. p. 133:4-24, (R. p. 172). Clifton also testified that the timing of the transfer was the result of unrelated business activities; specifically, Clifton instructed his staff to form Durbin Creek at the same time they were already preparing articles for other limited liability companies. Tr. p. 134:16-24, (R. p. 173).

There was no evidence that Whiteman was ever indebted to the Plaintiff. There was no evidence presented of Whiteman's intent to defraud the Plaintiff.

Finally, Clifton's testimony at trial demonstrated that foreclosures by First Citizens and the general decline of the real estate market ultimately eroded his financial standing to such an extent that he could not repay his obligations. Tr. p. 134:9 – p. 135:16, (R. pp. 173-174).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **The Court Misapprehended Clifton's Argument Regarding a Novel Issue under South Carolina Law.**

The Statute of Elizabeth provides

Every gift, grant, alienation, bargain, transfer, and conveyance of lands, tenements, or hereditaments, goods and chattels or any of them, or of any lease, rent, commons, or other profit or charge out of the same, by writing or otherwise, and every bond, suit, judgment, and execution which may be had or made to or for any intent or purpose to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors and others of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties, and forfeitures must be deemed and taken (only as against that person or persons, his or their heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns, and every one of them whose actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties, and forfeitures by guileful, covinous, or fraudulent devices and practices are, must, or might be in any ways disturbed, hindered, delayed, or defrauded) to be clearly and utterly void, frustrate and of no effect, any pretense, color, feigned consideration, expressing of use, or any other matter or thing to the contrary notwithstanding. S.C. Code Ann. 27-23-10(A).

In this case, two co-owners of property transferred their respective interests in an undeveloped parcel of property to a limited liability company created for that purpose. It is that transfer, and not the nature of the parties' interests as tenants in common, that is subject to review by this Court.

As was undisputed at trial or on appeal, there is no reported South Carolina case whereby the court set aside half of a deed. Clifton's position has been consistent: either the transaction was fraudulent or it was not. While Clifton agrees with the Court of Appeals regarding the well-

settled right of a co-tenant to transfer his interest independent of a co-owner, that correct statement of law misses the issue here.<sup>1</sup> The question presented, as it was at trial and to the Court of Appeals, is not whether Whiteman's admittedly valid purpose could affect Clifton's intention or whether the parties could have independently transferred their respective interests; rather, the question is whether a single deed and conveyance is susceptible to piecemeal attack. In this case, the trial Court concluded and the Court of Appeals ostensibly agreed that a deed may be half-fraudulent. It is similarly irrelevant that either owner may have transferred their interest independent of the other. The Court of Appeals should have reviewed the actual decision and transaction of the co-owners rather than their admitted right to have arranged their transfer in a different way. When these co-owners decided to transfer their property to a company created for that purpose, the entire transaction is subject to review. Stated differently, it is the transfer itself rather than the hypothetical ability to structure the transaction differently that is subject to review.

In order to successfully challenge the actual transfer at issue in the case, Respondent would have necessarily had to prove the fraudulent intent of the Grantor. As the text of the deed itself clarifies, Ken Clifton and Linda Whiteman were collectively the "Grantor" in the deed. (R. pp. 225-226). As the Court of Appeals pointed out, it is certainly possible for a party with

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals summarized the rights of cotenants, and the ability of each cotenant to freely transfer their distinct interests.

"As tenants in common, each person owned a 50% undivided interest in the Property. See 6 S.C. JURIS. Cotenancies § 5 (1991) ("Tenants in common each own a distinct and proportionate but undivided interest or estate in the property and do not have privity of estate with each other."). As tenants in common, each cotenant may transfer his or her separate ownership interest in the property without consent or participation of the other. See 6 S.C. JURIS. Cotenancies § 37 (1991) ("In the absence of a contrary contractual provision, one cotenant may sell, lease, or mortgage his share or interest in the property to . . . third parties."). If one cotenant conveys his or her interest to a third party, the third party—as grantee—becomes a tenant in common with the remaining cotenants. See 6 S.C. JURIS. Cotenancies § 39 (1991) ("A conveyance by one cotenant to a third party . . . conveys only the interest of the cotenant, and thus his grantee becomes a tenant in common with the other cotenants."). Because "[t]he interest of a tenant in common is freely alienable . . . [it] is subject to the claims of creditors." 6 S.C. JURIS. Cotenancies § 6 (1991)."

fraudulent intent to lump his fraudulent transfer together with another party with a presumably valid purpose for making a transfer. This Court could certainly craft a remedy to address such an attempt to insulate fraudulent conduct from subsequent attack. However, in this case both co-owners sought the conveyance at issue and did so through a single transfer. Linda Whiteman's testimony reflected that the transfer originated at her urging and for a valid purpose. (R. pp. 87-90).<sup>2</sup> Simply put, the factual background of this case would provide a poor example from which to craft a rule regarding use of an innocent cotenant to attempt concealment of fraudulent intent. The parties envisioned and accomplished a single transaction and a single deed. While courts below were correctly focused on Clifton's intention, in failing to address the intention of Linda Whiteman both the trial court and the Court of Appeals failed to review the intent of the Grantor. Regardless, having determined Clifton's intentions were fraudulent, the court below improperly attempted to alter the nature of the transfer before attempting to set aside only a portion. In doing so, the trial court impermissibly divided the deed.

### **CONCLUSION**