RECEIVED

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court**

FEB 21 2018

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

**Case No. 2010-CP-30-1141
Opinion No. 5469 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 15, 2017)
Appellate Case No. 2017-000979**

First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc.....Respondent,

v.

Park at Durbin Creek, LLC; Kenneth E. Clifton;
and Linda G. WhitemanDefendants,

Of whom Park at Durbin Creek, LLC and Kenneth E. Clifton are theAppellants/Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROE CASSIDY COATES & PRICE, P.A.

James H. Cassidy, S.C. Bar #1160
Ella S. Barbary, S.C. Bar # 70677

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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENTS

- A. **The manner in which the trial court voided Clifton's fraudulent transfer of his 50% interest in the Property was a proper exercise of its discretionary powers that cannot be reversed absent a showing of clear abuse.**

The Statute of Elizabeth requires fraudulent conveyances be set aside, stating that "[e]very...transfer and conveyance of lands...for the intent or purpose to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors and others of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties, and forfeitures *must be deemed and taken . . . to be clearly and utterly void . . .*" S.C. Code 27-23-10(A)(*emphasis added*). Clifton's transfer of the Property was fraudulent and ran afoul of the Statute of Elizabeth. This fact was established at trial, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, and not accepted for review by this Court. Thus, this Court is faced with an unlawful transfer that violated the Statute and, consequently, must be "clearly and utterly void" under the law.

The Petitioners contend that the setting aside of Clifton's fraudulent conveyance by the trial court resulted in an impermissible division of the deed. (Br. of Pet'rs p. 6). In doing so, they (impliedly) seek *de novo* review of the lower court's ruling by characterizing their challenge as a "novel issue" based upon a "misunderstanding of the law."² By declining to review the lower courts' findings that Clifton transferred his interest in the Property with the intent to delay, hinder or defraud creditors in violation of the Statute of Elizabeth, the narrow issue before this Court is whether or not setting aside the conveyance was an appropriate remedy for the statutory violation. Simply stated, the singular issue for this Court to decide is whether the trial court employed the proper means to reach the statutorily mandated end of voiding Clifton's fraudulent conveyance. As such, Petitioners' claim of error before this Court is one challenging the lower court's exercise of discretion and therefore subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. *Johnston v. Standard Oil Co.*, 155 S.C. 179, 152 S.E. 176 (1930)(The ruling of the trial court, if based upon the exercise of its discretion as to a matter that is within its discretion, will not be disturbed on appeal unless it reflects an abuse of discretion.).

"An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge's ruling is based upon an error of law or, when based upon factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987). Abuse of discretion must be clear and manifest to warrant reversal. *See Edens v. Cole*, 261 S.C. 556, 561-62, 201 S.E.2d 382, 384 (1973); *Mauro v. Clabaugh*, 299 S.C. 184, 190, 383 S.E.2d 244, 249 (Ct. App. 1989). As explained in detail in Section B, *supra*, Respondent contends the means

² "When reviewing a novel question of law, we are free to decide the issue with no particular deference to the lower court." *J.T. Baggerly v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 370 S.C. 362, 372, 635 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2006).

employed by the trial court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals to reach the statutorily required ends of voiding Clifton's conveyance were proper and based on well-established legal principals and facts in the record. Not only did the lower courts simply follow the explicit language of the Statute of Elizabeth in declaring Clifton's conveyance null and void in light of his unequivocal fraudulent intent in transferring the Property,³ but they also properly exercised their discretionary powers to fashion a remedy sufficient to ensure that just results were reached in light of Clifton's fraudulent conduct.⁴ Accordingly, there was no abuse of discretion and their rulings should be affirmed.

Should this Court find that the trial court was not empowered to fashion the remedy it did, reversal of its decision as the Petitioners' request is not an option. Rather, in light of the fraudulent nature of Clifton's actions in clear violation of the Statute of Elizabeth, modification or remand are the only rulings available to remedy any alleged abuse of discretion and not run afoul of the Statute which mandates that Clifton's fraudulent conveyance be "clearly and utterly void."⁵ It is just a matter of this Court clarifying the

³ "If a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." *Key Corp. Capital, Inc. v. Cty. of Beaufort*, 373 S.C. 55, 59, 644 S.E.2d 675, 677 (2007)(interpreting S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-150 and finding that since it provided a clear remedy if a tax sale was voided the bidders were limited to only the statutory remedy of the return of the purchase price without interest). "[I]t is beyond this Court's power to effect a change in the statutes enacted by the Legislature." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted)(citing *Keyserling v. Beasley*, 322 S.C. 83, 86, 470 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1996)(this Court does "not sit as a superlegislature to second guess the wisdom or folly of decisions of the General Assembly"))).

⁴ In the absence of an adequate remedy at law, a court may exercise its discretionary powers to grant equitable relief. *Key Corp. Capital, Inc., infra*, at 63. *See also Jones v. Leagan*, 384 S.C. 1, 19, 681 S.E.2d 6, 16 (Ct. App. 2009)("Courts have the inherent power to do all things reasonably necessary to ensure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible."). "An adequate remedy at law is one which provides the plaintiff with 'the full end and justice of the case. It is not enough that there is some remedy at law, but that remedy must be as practical, efficient, and prompt as the remedy in equity.'" *Key Corp. Capital, Inc., infra*, at 63 (quoting *Chisolm v. Pryor*, 207 S.C. 54, 60, 35 S.E.2d 21, 24 (1945)).

⁵ *See Key Corp. Capital, Inc., infra*, at 679-680 (Toal, J. and Pleiconas, J. dissenting)(The dissenting justices disagreed with the majority opinion which reversed the decision of the lower courts to award the respondents interest as an additional remedy when S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-150 only provided for the return of the purchase price when a tax sale is voided. Under the facts of the case, Justice Toal and Justice Pleiconas

allowable means to that end so that either it or the lower court may abide by the Statute's mandate.

B. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's order to set aside Clifton's fraudulent conveyance of his 50% interest in the Property even though both he and Whiteman conveyed their respective interests in the Property to PDC through a single deed.

As previously stated, the Petitioners claim that the Court of Appeals "misapprehended" their argument regarding this "novel issue under South Carolina law," and erred when affirming the trial court's decision to set aside Clifton's conveyance. (Br. of Pet'rs at pp. 4-6). Petitioners' argument opposing the setting aside of Clifton's conveyance is and has always been that "voiding the sale as to Clifton effectively divided the deed, which is error when Respondent failed to prove Whiteman acted with any fraudulent intent when she transferred her interest in the Property to PDC." (App. pp. 8; App. pp. 13-15; App. pp. 93-94; Pet'rs Reply to Resp't Return in Opp'n to Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 4). A mere cursory review of the Opinion entered by the Court of Appeals, however, quashes all allegations that the Court of Appeals somehow misunderstood the issue before it. It is apparent from the Opinion that the Court of Appeals applied well-established legal principles concerning the ownership and conveyance of property held as tenants in common to the facts of this case to conclude the trial court properly set aside Clifton's fraudulent conveyance. (App. pp. 8-9). The absence of applicable South Carolina case law to this particular factual scenario may make the issue "novel" but it does not undermine the sound legal basis and reasoning utilized by the Court of Appeals in

opined that the statutory remedy was inadequate and failed to provide the respondents with complete relief and believed a more appropriate remedy would be that the case be remanded to the trial court with instructions to determine the "amount of unjust enrichment the County must disgorge".).

reaching its decision on the issue. Petitioners have offered no legal authority to challenge the veracity of the law relied upon by the Court of Appeals in reaching its decision. Likewise, Petitioners have failed to provide any substantive argument undermining the lower court's reasoning based upon those unchallenged legal principles. Simply put, Petitioners' argument is a bare accusation of alleged misapprehension by a learned panel of appellate judges whose Opinion reflects nothing but a clear understanding of the pertinent law and its application to the facts of this case.

Petitioners fault the Court of Appeals for failing to review the transfer of the Property from both Clifton and Whiteman to PDC in its entirety and focusing instead on "the nature of the parties' interests as tenants in common." (Br. of Pet'rs pp. 4-5). Petitioners' argument, however, is grounded in fallacy and based on an improper characterization of the parties as a single "Grantor" for the purpose of a Statute of Elizabeth analysis. It is undisputed that Whiteman and Clifton owned the Property as tenants in common. While the Petitioners want to skirt around and ignore this critical fact, the truth of the matter is that "the nature of the parties' interests as tenants in common" is the very reason why Clifton's conveyance could properly be set aside.

As accurately pointed out by the Court of Appeals, since Clifton and Whiteman owned the property as tenants in common, it is immaterial that they conveyed their respective interest in the property through a single deed. (App. p. 9). The reason being is that the well-established legal principles concerning ownership of the Property as tenants in common, with which the Petitioners agree, make it clear that:

- (1) **Clifton and Whiteman each owned a fifty percent undivided interest in the Property separate and apart from the other. 6 S.C. JURIS.**

COTENANCIES § 5 (1991)(“Tenants in common each own a distinct and proportionate but undivided interest or estate in the property and do not have privity of estate with each other.”); (App. p. 9).

- (2) **Clifton and Whiteman could each transfer their separate ownership interest in the Property without consent or participation of the other.**

6 S.C. JURIS. COTENANCIES § 37 (1991)(“In the absence of a contrary contractual provision, one cotenant may sell, lease, or mortgage his share or interest in the property to other cotenants or third parties.”); (App. p. 9).

- (3) **Clifton and Whiteman as tenants in common could only transfer their respective 50% ownership interest in the Property and could not**

convey more than what he or she owns. 6 S.C. JURIS. COTENANCIES § 39 (1991)(“A conveyance by one cotenant to a third party . . . conveys only the interest of the cotenant, and thus, his grantee becomes a tenant in common with the other cotenants.”); (App. p. 9).

There is absolutely no legal principle the Petitioners can rely upon or point to in support of their position that since Clifton and Whiteman transferred their separate property interests to PDC through a single deed that it somehow severed or negated the distinct and mutually exclusive ownership interest each of them possessed in the Property and conveyed through that deed. The fact is that regardless of the mechanism used to convey their respective interests, the analysis and the outcome remains the same. Petitioners’ argument invites the Court to tilt its head at windmills when, in reality, the method of Clifton’s conveyance is irrelevant and the lower courts both properly focused their Statute of Elizabeth analysis on his intent. Finding that intent to be fraudulent, the trial court utilized its discretionary

powers to fashion an appropriate remedy and the Court of Appeals rightly upheld that decision.

Notwithstanding the foregoing and in an apparent desperate attempt to find some justification for their unfounded argument, the Petitioners claim that since the September 18, 2008 deed in question refers to Clifton and Whiteman as a single “Grantor” then the intent of both of them must necessarily be fraudulent as the “Grantor” under a proper Statute of Elizabeth analysis. (Br. of Pet’rs p. 5). The fact that Clifton and Whiteman may have been referred to as “Grantor” in the deed does not in any way mean or suggest that each of them possessed and were conveying anything more than his or her separate, distinct and mutually exclusive 50% ownership interest in the Property so that they become a single, unified grantor for purposes of a Statute of Elizabeth analysis. In fact, in the deed’s derivation clause there is a second reference to Clifton and Whiteman where they are referred to as “the Grantors herein”. (R. p. 225). Despite Petitioners’ contention to the contrary, the only clarification to this issue that can be gleaned from the use of the word “Grantor” in the deed is that Clifton (or his office) made a scrivener’s error when he prepared it – not that the conveyances of Whiteman and Clifton’s separate and distinct property interests constituted a single transfer necessitating a review of Whiteman’s intent. Her intent remains irrelevant and Petitioners fail to present any authority to the contrary.

By virtue of this Court’s refusal to review the sufficiency of the evidence surrounding Clifton’s intent when he transferred his 50% interest in the Property to PDC, the Court of Appeals’ decision stands and the final ruling remains that Clifton acted fraudulently when transferring the Property. (App. p. 8). Since the Property was owned as tenants in common, Clifton’s conveyance to PDC was a mutually exclusive conveyance

separate and apart from that of Whiteman's such that the invalidity of one does not invalidate the other. (App. p. 9). Additionally, as a mutually exclusive conveyance, the Court of Appeals properly held that it was wholly irrelevant that Whiteman may have transferred her share of the Property to PDC for a valid purpose, as her intent has no bearing on whether or not Clifton's conveyance was fraudulent under the Statute of Elizabeth. (App. p. 9). The reason being is that Whiteman was not the "grantor" of Clifton's share as would be necessary to trigger a Statute of Elizabeth analysis of her intent. *Oskin v. Johnson*, 400 S.C. 390, 398, 735 S.E.2d 459, 464 (2012)("The Statute of Elizabeth is concerned with the intent of the grantor who conveys an interest in land."). As such, it was well within the power of the trial court and the Court of Appeals to invalidate only Clifton's conveyance of his interest in the Property without regard to the validity of Whiteman's transfer of her share or her intent in making the conveyance.

The Statute of Elizabeth is designed to protect "creditors and others from fraudulent conveyances and, therefore, should be construed liberally in favor of the class of persons designed to be protected from fraud." *Oskin*, at 406. Otherwise, "an individual can goad an innocent grantor into conveying an interest in property to defraud another with impunity." *Id.* Here, Clifton is doing nothing but trying to escape liability by attempting to lump his fraudulent transfer with Whiteman's presumably valid one. Petitioners have acknowledged that it is proper for the Court to "craft a remedy to address such an attempt to insulate" fraudulent conduct, (Br. of Pet'rs pp. 5-6), and the facts of this case provided the Court of Appeals a perfect scenario to do just that. Clifton's conveyance was fraudulent, and it cannot be cloaked in legitimacy simply because it was accomplished through a single deed in which his cotenant conveyed her interest in the Property. The law

says these are distinct transfers, and the lower courts properly analyzed Clifton's conveyance as one separate and apart from Whiteman's. In setting aside Clifton's conveyance without finding Whiteman harbored similarly fraudulent intent or otherwise invalidating her transfer, the Court of Appeals rightly affirmed the trial court's ruling which is supported by well-established legal principles and reflects a fair and just exercise of the court's discretionary powers to fashion an appropriate remedy to carry out the intended purpose of the Statute.⁶

V. CONCLUSION

Clifton acted with fraudulent intent when he conveyed his interest in the subject Property to PDC. The Statute of Elizabeth requires this fraudulent conveyance be set aside, and Petitioners have failed to establish the means employed to reach that mandated end were inappropriate or otherwise an abuse of discretion. Should this Court find the lower courts acted inappropriately in voiding Clifton's unlawful conveyance, then the ruling should be modified or remanded so that an appropriate remedy can be fashioned to properly invalidate Clifton's fraudulent conveyance as required by the Statute of Elizabeth.

Further, well-established and unchallenged legal principles concerning tenants in common supports the lower court's analysis and conclusions in this case. Although the Property was owned by Clifton and Whiteman as tenants in common and they each transferred their respective interests in it to PDC through a single deed, the fact remains